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Notice:

Subsequent History: Appeal denied by
Comm’n on Human Rights & Opportunities v.
City of Hartford, 2012 Conn. LEXIS 479
(Conn., Nov. 7, 2012)

Prior History: [***1] Appeal from the deci-
sion by the plaintiff’s human rights referee dis-
missing a complaint of, inter alia, gender dis-
crimination, brought to the Superior Court in the
judicial district of New Britain, where the
court, Cohn, J., granted the motion to be added
as a party plaintiff filed by Dana Peterson;
thereafter, the court remanded the matter to the
plaintiff’s human rights referee for clarifica-
tion of his decision and the plaintiff’s human
rights referee issued a clarification; subse-
quently, the court denied the named defen-
dant’s motion to dismiss; thereafter, the matter
was tried to the court; judgment sustaining
the appeal and remanding the matter to the plain-
tiff’s human rights referee for further proceed-
ings, from which the named defendant ap-
pealed to this court.
Comm’n on Human Rights & Opportunities v.
City of Hartford, 2010 Conn. Super. LEXIS
2727 (Conn. Super. Ct., Oct. 27, 2010)

Disposition: Reversed; judgment directed.

Core Terms

academy, agility, pretext, training, canine,
gender, retaliation, selection process, remand
order, stereotyping, candidates, referee’s,
amended complaint, cause of action, trial
court, discriminatory, patrol, physical disability,
meter run, score, prima facie case,
clarification, substantial evidence, final
judgment, ranked, motion to dismiss,
memorandum, sex, doctrine, quotation

Case Summary

Overview
The court held that in a gender and disability dis-
crimination case under Conn. Gen. Stat. §§ 46a
-58(a) and 46a-60(a)(1), it was error to re-
mand a referee’s decision on the issue of pretext.
Substantial evidence supported the referee’s
decision that plaintiff, a police officer who
sought the opportunity to be trained as a ca-
nine handler, had not shown that defendant’s use
of a single-norm standard to score a 300-
meter run and its ranking of candidates were pre-
texts for discrimination.

Outcome
The court reversed the judgment. It remanded
the case to the trial court to enforce the deci-
sion of the referee dismissing the complaint.

LexisNexis® Headnotes

Civil Rights Law > Regulators > Civil Rights Com-
missions > Authorities & Powers



HN1 The Commission on Human Rights and
Opportunities acts in a dual role of protecting the
public interest and the private complainant. Al-
though the primary role of the commission
is to enforce statutes barring discrimination and
it has an institutional interest in its decision-
making process, the commission also is empow-
ered by statute to prosecute complaints on is-
sues of public concern.

Administrative Law > Judicial Review > Reviewabil-
ity > Standing
Civil Rights Law > Regulators > Civil Rights Commis-
sions > Authorities & Powers

HN2 Conn. Gen. Stat. § 46a-94a(a) empowers
the Commission on Human Rights and Oppor-
tunities to appeal from decisions of administra-
tive referees within the agency in accordance
with Conn. Gen. Stat. § 4-183(a).

Administrative Law > Judicial Review > Reviewabil-
ity > Standing
Civil Rights Law > Protection of Rights > Procedural
Matters > General Overview

HN3 See Conn. Gen. Stat. § 46a-94a(a).

Administrative Law > Judicial Review > Reviewabil-
ity > Exhaustion of Remedies
Administrative Law > Judicial Review > Reviewabil-
ity > Standing

HN4 See Conn. Gen. Stat. § 4-183(a).

Administrative Law > Judicial Review > Standards of
Review > General Overview
Administrative Law > Judicial Review > Standards of
Review > Clearly Erroneous Standard of Review
Administrative Law > Judicial Review > Standards of
Review > Substantial Evidence

HN5 Appellate review of an agency’s factual de-
termination is constrained by Conn. Gen.
Stat. § 4-183(j), which mandates that a court
shall not substitute its judgment for that of the
agency as to the weight of the evidence on
questions of fact. The court shall affirm the de-
cision of the agency unless the court finds
that substantial rights of the person appealing
have been prejudiced because the administra-
tive findings, inferences, conclusions, or deci-
sions are clearly erroneous in view of the reli-
able, probative, and substantial evidence on

the whole record. This limited standard of re-
view dictates that, with regard to questions of
fact, it is neither the function of the trial
court nor of this court to retry the case or to sub-
stitute its judgment for that of the administra-
tive agency. An agency’s factual determination
must be sustained if it is reasonably sup-
ported by substantial evidence in the record
taken as a whole. Substantial evidence exists if
the administrative record affords a substantial
basis of fact from which the fact in issue can be
reasonably inferred. This substantial evidence
standard is highly deferential and permits less ju-
dicial scrutiny than a clearly erroneous or
weight of the evidence standard of review.

Administrative Law > Judicial Review > Standards of
Review > General Overview
Administrative Law > Judicial Review > Standards of
Review > Substantial Evidence
Evidence > Burdens of Proof > Allocation

HN6 The burden is on the party challenging
the agency’s decision to demonstrate that the
agency’s factual conclusions were not sup-
ported by the weight of substantial evidence
on the whole record. With respect to questions
of law, conclusions of law reached by the ad-
ministrative agency must stand if the court de-
termines that they resulted from a correct ap-
plication of the law to the facts found and could
reasonably and logically follow from such
facts.

Administrative Law > Judicial Review > Standards of
Review > De Novo Standard of Review
Civil Procedure > ... > Responses > Defenses, Demur-
rers & Objections > Motions to Dismiss

HN7 A motion to dismiss properly attacks the
jurisdiction of the court. Review of the trial
court’s ultimate legal conclusion and resulting
decision to deny the motion to dismiss will be de
novo.

Administrative Law > Judicial Review > Remand & Re-
mittitur
Administrative Law > Judicial Review > Reviewabil-
ity > Reviewable Agency Action

HN8 Remand orders issued pursuant to Conn.
Gen. Stat. § 4-183(h) are not final judgments.
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Section 4-183(h) permits the trial court, prior
to a hearing on the merits and upon request of
a party, to order that the additional evidence
be taken before the agency, which in turn al-
lows the agency to modify its findings or deci-
sion.

Administrative Law > Judicial Review > Remand & Re-
mittitur
Administrative Law > Judicial Review > Reviewabil-
ity > Reviewable Agency Action

HN9 A remand issued by the trial court pursu-
ant to Conn. Gen. Stat. § 4-183(j) constitutes
a final judgment for the purpose of appeal irre-
spective of the nature of the remand and ad-
ministrative proceedings that are expected to fol-
low it.

Administrative Law > Judicial Review > Remand & Re-
mittitur
Administrative Law > Judicial Review > Reviewabil-
ity > Reviewable Agency Action
Administrative Law > Judicial Review > Standards of
Review > General Overview
Administrative Law > Judicial Review > Standards of
Review > Arbitrary & Capricious Standard of Re-
view
Administrative Law > Judicial Review > Standards of
Review > Clearly Erroneous Standard of Review

HN10 See Conn. Gen. Stat. § 4-183(j).

Administrative Law > Judicial Review > Remand & Re-
mittitur
Administrative Law > Judicial Review > Reviewabil-
ity > Reviewable Agency Action

HN11 Although the plain text of Conn. Gen.
Stat. § 4-183 expressly refers to remands only
in § 4-183(j) and implicitly refers to remands in
§ 4-183(h), it does not state that the types of re-
mands addressed in § 4-183 constitute an ex-
haustive list despite the legislature’s knowl-
edge of how to express such an intent.
Reviewing courts typically have the ability to
obtain articulations from the tribunals whose de-
cisions they review.

Administrative Law > Judicial Review > Remand & Re-
mittitur

HN12 Orders under Conn. Gen. Stat. §
4-183(h) fairly may be characterized as re-

mands.

Administrative Law > Judicial Review > Remand & Re-
mittitur
Civil Procedure > Appeals > Remands

HN13 Conn. Gen. Prac. Book, R. App. P. §
60-5 provides for remands by appellate courts
for a further articulation of the basis of the trial
court’s factual findings or decision. By anal-
ogy, a trial court hearing administrative ap-
peals has the same power, which sometimes is
necessary to reach a reasoned and informed de-
cision.

Civil Rights Law > General Overview
Labor & Employment Law > ... > Disparate Im-
pact > Evidence > General Overview
Labor & Employment Law > ... > Disparate Treat-
ment > Evidence > General Overview
Labor & Employment Law > ... > Disparate Treat-
ment > Evidence > Mixed Motive

HN15 The United States Supreme Court has
set forth three theories of discrimination, each
of which requires a different prima facie case
and corresponding burden of proof. These
theories are: (1) the pretext theory; (2) the dis-
parate impact theory; and (3) the mixed mo-
tives theory.

Civil Rights Law > General Overview
Labor & Employment Law > Discrimina-
tion > Disparate Treatment > Scope & Definitions

HN14 In order to set forth a prima facie case
of discrimination under the pretext model, a
plaintiff must establish that she: (1) is a mem-
ber of a protected class; (2) applied for and was
qualified for the benefit or position; (3) suf-
fered an adverse action by the defendant; and
(4) the adverse action occurred under circum-
stances giving rise to an inference of discrimi-
nation.

Labor & Employment Law > ... > Evidence > Bur-
dens of Proof > Burden Shifting

HN16 Under the burden shifting analysis of Mc-
Donnell Douglas, the employee must first
make a prima facie case of discrimination. The
employer may then rebut the prima facie case
by stating a legitimate, nondiscriminatory justi-
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fication for the employment decision in ques-
tion. The employee then must demonstrate that
the reason proffered by the employer is
merely a pretext and that the decision actually
was motivated by illegal discriminatory bias.

Administrative Law > Judicial Review > Standards of
Review > General Overview
Administrative Law > Judicial Review > Standards of
Review > Abuse of Discretion
Administrative Law > Judicial Review > Standards of
Review > Arbitrary & Capricious Standard of Re-
view
Administrative Law > Judicial Review > Standards of
Review > Unlawful Procedures

HN17 Judicial review of an administrative agen-
cy’s action is governed by the Uniform Admin-
istrative Procedure Act, Conn. Gen. Stat. §
4-166 et seq., and the scope of that review is
very restricted. The court’s ultimate duty is only
to decide whether, in light of the evidence,
the agency has acted unreasonably, arbitrarily, il-
legally, or in abuse of its discretion. In order
for a reviewing court to reverse or modify an
agency’s decision, Conn. Gen. Stat. §
4-183(g)(1) (now § 4-183(j)) requires the court
to find that substantial rights of the appellant
have been prejudiced.

Civil Procedure > Judicial Officers > Refer-
ees > Determinations, Findings & Reports

HN18 An appellate court presumes that a ref-
eree considered all the evidence before him in
arriving at his decision.

Civil Rights Law > Protection of Rights > Protection
of Disabled Persons > General Overview

HN19 See Conn. Gen. Stat. § 46a-51(20).

Civil Rights Law > Protection of Rights > Protection
of Disabled Persons > General Overview

HN20 See Conn. Gen. Stat. § 46a-51(15).

Labor & Employment Law > Discrimina-
tion > General Overview

HN21 See Conn. Gen. Stat. § 46a-60(a)(1).

Labor & Employment Law > ... > Gender & Sex Dis-
crimination > Scope & Definitions > Gender Stereo-

types
Labor & Employment Law > Discrimination > Title
VII Discrimination > General Overview

HN22 In enacting Title VII of the Civil Rights
Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C.S. § 2000e et seq., Con-
gress intended to strike at the entire spectrum of
disparate treatment of men and women result-
ing from sex stereotypes. As a result, sex stereo-
typing by an employer based on a person’s gen-
der non-conforming behavior is impermissible
discrimination. That is, individual employees
who face adverse employment actions as a re-
sult of their employer’s animus toward their ex-
hibition of behavior considered to be stereo-
typically inappropriate for their gender may have
a claim under Title VII.

Civil Rights Law > Regulators > Civil Rights Commis-
sions > Complaints

HN23 According to Conn. Gen. Stat. § 46a-82
(f), a complaint to the commission alleging
employment discrimination must be filed within
180 days after the alleged act of discrimina-
tion. The 180-day time requirement is not juris-
dictional but rather is subject to waiver and eq-
uitable tolling.

Civil Rights Law > Regulators > Civil Rights Commis-
sions > Complaints

HN24 See Conn. Agencies Regs. § 46a-54-
38a(b).

Civil Procedure > ... > Pleadings > Amendment of
Pleadings > General Overview

HN25 A party properly may amplify or expand
what has already been alleged in support of a
cause of action, provided the identity of the
cause of action remains substantially the
same. If a new cause of action is alleged in an
amended complaint, however, it will speak
as of the date when it was filed. A cause of ac-
tion is that single group of facts which is
claimed to have brought about an unlawful in-
jury to the plaintiff and which entitles the
plaintiff to relief. A right of action at law arises
from the existence of a primary right in the
plaintiff, and an invasion of that right by some
delict on the part of the defendant. The facts
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which establish the existence of that right and
that delict constitute the cause of action. It is
proper to amplify or expand what has already
been alleged in support of a cause of action, pro-
vided the identity of the cause of action re-
mains substantially the same, but when an en-
tirely new and different factual situation is
presented, a new and different cause of action
is stated.

Civil Procedure > ... > Pleadings > Amendment of
Pleadings > Relation Back

HN26 If the alternate theory of liability may
be supported by the original factual allega-
tions, then the mere fact that the amendment
adds a new theory of liability is not a bar to
the application of the relation back doctrine. If,
however, the new theory of liability is not sup-
ported by the original factual allegations of the
earlier, timely complaint, and would require
the presentation of new and different evidence,
the amendment does not relate back.

Civil Procedure > Pleading & Practice > Plead-
ings > General Overview
Civil Procedure > ... > Pleadings > Amendment of
Pleadings > Relation Back

HN27 Appellate review of the applicability of
the relation back doctrine is plenary. The inter-
pretation of pleadings also presents a question
of law over which review is plenary.

Syllabus

The plaintiff commission on human rights and
opportunities appealed to the trial court from
the decision of the commission’s human rights
referee dismissing the claims of discrimina-
tion and retaliation made by the complainant,
P, a Hartford police officer. P had filed a com-
plaint with the commission alleging that the
police department had discriminated against her
on the basis of her gender and [***2] disabil-
ity during the process of selecting trainees
for the position of canine handler in January-
February, 2003, and in September, 2003. Specifi-
cally, P had filed a complaint with the commis-
sion in August, 2003, alleging that she was

denied the opportunity to be trained as a ca-
nine handler during the selection process in
January-February, 2003, because of her gender
and physical disability. In October, 2003, she
amended her complaint to add a claim of retali-
ation, claiming that she was denied the posi-
tion because she had opposed discriminatory
employment practices and because of the ini-
tial complaint she had filed with the commis-
sion. The trial court rendered judgment sustain-
ing the appeal and remanded the matter to the
referee on the issues of pretext, physical disabil-
ity, gender stereotyping and retaliation. On
the appeal to this court by the defendant city
of Hartford, held:

1. The city could not prevail on its claim that
the trial court improperly denied its motion to
dismiss, in which the city claimed that a
May, 2010 order of the trial court remanding
the matter to the referee to issue a clarification
was a final judgment pursuant to statute (§
4-183 [j]), that the court’s jurisdiction
[***3] over the matter had terminated, and

that the court had no jurisdiction to hear the mat-
ter subsequently and to render its judgment; al-
though a remand issued pursuant to § 4-183
(j) constitutes a final judgment for the pur-
poses of appeal irrespective of the nature of the
remand and administrative proceedings that
are expected to follow it, the court’s remand or-
der here directing the referee to clarify three
points was not made pursuant to § 4-183 (j) and
properly could be characterized as a request
for an articulation and, therefore, was not a fi-
nal judgment.

2. The trial court improperly reversed the deci-
sion of the referee and remanded the discrimi-
nation claim to him on the issue of pretext, that
court having improperly concluded that he
failed to consider all the evidence of a discrimi-
natory environment when making a determina-
tion on the issue of pretext; the referee’s find-
ings indicated that he considered the work
environment and his conclusions were sup-
ported by substantial evidence showing that P
did not set forth a prima facie case of discrimi-
nation as to a January, 2003 physical agility
test that she failed, that the standard scoring
method used for a fitness run was not a pretext
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[***4] for discrimination, that P did not prove
that the reasons provided for her not having
been selected in September, 2003, for the posi-
tion of canine handler were pretextual, and
that the ranking of candidates for a canine train-
ing academy was objective and not a pretext
for discrimination.

3. The trial court improperly reversed the deci-
sion of the referee that P did not provide suf-
ficient evidence of a physical disability and re-
manded the case to the referee for the
purpose of reconsidering the issue of physical
disability; the referee having found that P be-
longed to a protected class by virtue of a men-
tal disability, a finding regarding physical dis-
ability would have added nothing to the legal
analysis and could not, itself, have changed the
result and, thus, such a finding was not neces-
sary in the context of this case and would have
provided no greater benefit to P.

4. The trial court improperly remanded the gen-
der stereotyping claim to the referee and
stated that P and the commission could seek
clarification on that issue on remand if they
wanted to do so; the referee did not find cred-
ible the evidence submitted by P in support
of her gender stereotyping claim, the court’s
statement [***5] regarding clarification of the
gender stereotyping claim merely highlighted
one aspect of the court’s remand order for fur-
ther analysis concerning the discrimination
claim, and this court had determined that a re-
mand on the discrimination claim was im-
proper.

5. The trial court improperly reversed the deci-
sion of the referee and remanded the retalia-
tion claim to the referee, the referee having prop-
erly declined to address the issue of retaliation

in relation to the January-February, 2003 selec-
tion process because P’s initial complaint did
not raise it, and her amended complaint was filed
too late to raise it in a timely manner.

Counsel: Helen Apostolidis, for the appellant
(named defendant).

David L. Kent, human rights attorney, for the ap-
pellee (plaintiff).

Jamie L. Mills, for the appellee (plaintiff Dana
Peterson).

Charles Krich, principal attorney, filed a brief
for the appellee (defendant commission on hu-
man rights and opportunities).

Jennifer L. Levi filed a brief for the Transgen-
der Rights Project of Gay & Lesbian Advo-
cates & Defenders as amicus curiae.

Judges: DiPentima, C. J., and Beach and Shel-
don, Js. BEACH, J. In this opinion the other
judges concurred.

Opinion by: BEACH

Opinion

[**921] [*144] BEACH, J. The defendant
city of Hartford1 [***6] appeals from the judg-
ment of the trial court rendered in favor of
the plaintiffs, Dana Peterson and the commis-
sion on human rights and opportunities (com-
mission),2 reversing [**922] the decision of
the commission’s human rights referee (ref-
eree) and remanding the case on various
grounds to the referee for further proceedings.

1 The commission on human rights and opportunities (commission), in its decision-making capacity, was also named as a de-
fendant. The commission’s decision-making division declined to defend the appeal in the trial court and joined the plaintiffs. See Gen-
eral Statutes § 46a-94. We therefore refer in this opinion to the city of Hartford as the defendant.

The commission appealed the referee’s decision on behalf of Peterson, and she later moved to be made a party plaintiff.

2
HN1 The commission acts in a dual role of protecting the public interest and the private complainant. Commission on Human

Rights & Opportunities v. Board of Education, 270 Conn. 665, 683, 855 A.2d 212 (2004). [***7] Although the primary role of
the commission is to enforce statutes barring discrimination and it has an institutional interest in its decision-making process, the com-
mission also is empowered by statute to prosecute complaints on issues of public concern. Id., 682-83; see also HN2 General Stat-
utes § 46a-94a (a) (empowering commission to appeal from decisions of administrative referees within agency in accordance
with General Statutes § 4-183 [a]).
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The defendant claims that the court erred in de-
nying its motion to dismiss and in subse-
quently reversing the decision and remanding
the case to the referee on the issues of pretext,
physical disability, gender stereotyping and re-
taliation. We reverse the judgment of the trial
court.

On August 6, 2003, Peterson filed a complaint
with the commission alleging that the Hart-
ford police department (department) discrimi-
nated against her on the [*145] basis of her sex
(female) and disability (transsexual and gen-
der dysphoria) during the process of selecting
trainees for the position of patrol canine han-
dler, in violation of the Connecticut Fair Em-
ployment Practices Act, General Statutes §§
46a-60 (a) (1) and 46a-58 (a). On October
15, 2003, she amended her complaint to allege
retaliation in violation of § 46a-60 (a) (4).

The commission certified the complaint for a
public hearing. Following a public hearing, the
referee issued a memorandum of decision on
November 14, 2008. The referee set forth the
following relevant findings of fact. Peterson
[***8] was born a biological male in 1967. Af-
ter years of turmoil regarding her then anatomi-
cal sex and after seeking assistance from men-
tal health professionals, Peterson began
living as a woman in 1991. In 1993, Peterson un-
derwent sex reassignment surgery in Canada.
Also in 1993, Peterson applied for a position as
a police officer with the department. After com-
pleting the requisite training, Peterson was
sworn in as a police officer with the depart-
ment in 1994 and was promoted to the rank of
sergeant on July 31, 2004.

Peterson has had the career goal of becoming a
patrol canine handler. The department did not
train canine handlers itself; training was pro-
vided by a state operated canine training acad-
emy (academy). In 2002, Neville Brooks, a ser-
geant with the department, was appointed to

the position of supervisor of the department’s
patrol canine unit. In that position, Brooks was
responsible for the selection of officers for
the canine unit. Brooks created an interdepart-
mental memorandum, dated May 13, 2002,
expressing the department’s intention to fill cer-
tain canine handler positions. The memoran-
dum stated that the selection process entailed a
letter of recommendation from an immediate
[***9] supervisor, a physical agility test based

on the ″Cooper Standards,″ a review of lost
time and disciplinary action, an interview with
family members, an inspection of [*146] resi-
dence and successful completion of a sixteen
week training class. The Cooper Standards
are physical agility fitness norms.3 Passing a
physical agility test administered by the acad-
emy had been a requirement of becoming a
member of the [**923] department’s canine
unit since at least August 9, 1999.

Seven officers, including Peterson, responded
to the May 13, [***10] 2002 announcement. It
was the custom of the department to select
for academy training one more person than the
number of positions available to the depart-
ment in the academy’s training class so that an
alternate could be trained if one of the others
failed initial testing at the academy. Brooks se-
lected three officers; Peterson was not in-
cluded. The three officers selected by Brooks
were given a physical agility test by the acad-
emy on December 30, 2002; all three offi-
cers failed. As a result of their failure, Brooks
decided to administer his own physical agility
test to all officers who applied to become pa-
trol canine handlers in order to avoid the embar-
rassment of officers’ failure to pass the acad-
emy’s physical agility test and to avoid losing
positions allocated to the department in the
academy’s sixteen week training class for ca-
nine handlers.

By interdepartmental memorandum dated Janu-
ary 6, 2003, Brooks again announced that the

3 The referee noted that the Cooper Standards/physical agility fitness norms have been defined as standards ″based on a repre-
sentative sample of approximately 4000 officers that were stratified (by age and gender) and randomly selected from forty munici-
pal, state and federal agencies. 89.7 [percent] of the sample was male and 10.3 [percent] of the sample was female; which re-
flects the gender characteristics of most agencies. The physical fitness tests were field tests measuring those job related physical
fitness areas that have been shown to be the underlying and predictive factors for officer physical abilities to perform essential physi-
cal tasks and functions of the job.″
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department was seeking to send candidates for
the position of patrol canine handler to the
academy. The memorandum indicated that the
selection process would include two [*147]
physical agility tests: one conducted in ad-
vance by the department and the other con-
ducted [***11] by the academy. Although Pe-
terson did not respond to the announcement,
she nonetheless was invited to participate in the
January physical agility test conducted by the
department.

On January 26, 2003, Brooks conducted a physi-
cal agility test. Brooks tried to duplicate the
test used by the academy. He contacted the acad-
emy and was provided with the events and
scoring standards. The events included a 300
meter run for which the scoring standards did not
differentiate by gender or age. Using these stan-
dards to score the January, 2003 test, Brooks
determined that Peterson had failed the 300 me-
ter run.

After being informed of this result, Peterson
contacted the department’s police academy and
spoke with Dave Dufault, a Cooper Standards
certified instructor,4 who provided her with a
different version of the Cooper Standards for
the 300 meter run that varied by gender and age.
On February 21, 2003, Peterson’s union filed
a grievance with the department regarding her
failing the department’s January 26, 2003
physical agility test.

The two candidates who passed the depart-
ment’s [***12] physical agility test were sent
to the academy for physical agility testing.
One candidate, Robert Lawlor, withdrew from
the academy’s canine training class because his
dog had been found to be unsuitable. As a re-
sult of Lawlor’s withdrawal, Brooks requested,
and the department was allotted, a slot in the
September, 2003 session of the academy.

By interdepartmental memorandum dated Au-
gust 28, 2003, Brooks again announced that the
department was seeking candidates for the po-
sition of patrol canine [*148] handler. Peter-
son responded to this announcement. On Sep-
tember 7, 2003, the department conducted a
physical agility test to screen the applicants.
Brooks requested that Dufault administer the
physical agility test. Dufault was not as-
signed the additional task of determining
whether a candidate passed or failed the test. Pe-
terson, along with four other candidates,
passed the physical agility test. The department
had been allotted one slot in the academy
class, and Brooks again decided [**924] to
send one more candidate for preliminary test-
ing at the academy than the number of slots
available to the department in the training
class. Brooks ranked the candidates according
to performance on the physical [***13] agility
test, and Peterson, who ranked last, was not se-
lected.

The referee rejected Peterson’s claims of dis-
crimination and retaliation and dismissed the
complaint. The commission appealed from
the referee’s decision to the Superior Court pur-
suant to General Statutes §§ 46a-94a5 and
4-183.6 Thereafter, Peterson filed a motion to
be made a party plaintiff, which was granted by
the trial court. On May 4, 2010, the court re-
manded the matter to the commission for clari-
fication of three points. After the referee filed
his response to the remand order, the defendant
filed a motion to dismiss the action for lack
of subject matter jurisdiction. The defendant
claimed that the remand order of May 4, 2010,
was a final judgment and further action in
the same appeal was thus impossible. The court
denied the motion to dismiss.

[*149] In a memorandum of decision issued
on October 27, 2010, the court sustained the ap-

4 To become a certified instructor, Dufault was required to attend a sixty hour course conducted by the Cooper Institute.

5 General Statutes § 46a-94a (a) provides in relevant part: HN3 ″The Commission on Human Rights and Opportunities, any re-
spondent or any complainant aggrieved by a final order of a presiding officer . . . may appeal therefrom in accordance with sec-
tion 4-183. . . .″

6 General statutes § 4-183 (a) provides in relevant part: HN4 ″A person who has exhausted all administrative remedies avail-
able [***14] within the agency and who is aggrieved by a final decision may appeal to the Superior Court as provided in this sec-
tion. . . .″
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peal. The court found that the referee erred by in-
adequately discussing the issue of pretext and
improperly concluding that Peterson could not
bring a complaint for physical disability dis-
crimination and that the protected activity rel-
evant to her retaliation claim was limited to the
filing of the August, 2003 commission com-
plaint. The court remanded the matter to the ref-
eree for further proceedings based on the exist-
ing record. This appeal followed.7

We first set forth our standard of review.
HN5 ″Our review of an agency’s factual deter-
mination is constrained by . . . § 4-183 (j),
which mandates that a court shall not substi-
tute its judgment for that of the agency as to the
weight of the evidence on questions of fact.
The court shall affirm the decision of the agency
unless the court finds that substantial rights of
the person appealing have been [***15] preju-
diced because the administrative findings, in-
ferences, conclusions, or decisions are . . .
clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, pro-
bative, and substantial evidence on the whole re-
cord . . . . This limited standard of review dic-
tates that, [w]ith regard to questions of fact,
it is neither the function of the trial court nor
of this court to retry the case or to substitute its
judgment for that of the administrative
agency. . . . An agency’s factual determination
must be sustained if it is reasonably sup-
ported by substantial evidence in the record
taken as a whole. . . . Substantial evidence ex-
ists if the administrative record affords a sub-
stantial basis of fact from which the fact in is-
sue can be reasonably inferred. . . . This
substantial evidence standard is highly deferen-
tial and permits less judicial scrutiny than a
clearly erroneous or weight of the evidence stan-
dard of review. . . . HN6 The burden is on
the [party challenging the agency’s decision] to
demonstrate that the [*150] [agency’s] fac-
tual conclusions were not supported by the
weight of substantial evidence on the whole re-
cord. . . . With respect to questions of law,
[w]e have said that [c]onclusions of law reached
by [***16] the administrative agency must

stand if the [**925] court determines that
they resulted from a correct application of the
law to the facts found and could reasonably and
logically follow from such facts.″ (Citation
omitted; internal quotation marks omitted.)
Board of Education v. Commission on Human
Rights & Opportunities, 266 Conn. 492, 503-
504, 832 A.2d 660 (2003).

I

The defendant first claims that the court erred
in denying its motion to dismiss. The defen-
dant argued in the motion that the court’s
first remand effectively was a final judgment
and that the court had no jurisdiction to hear the
matter subsequently. We disagree.

We first set forth our standard of review.
HN7 ″A motion to dismiss . . . properly at-
tacks the jurisdiction of the court . . . . [O]ur re-
view of the trial court’s ultimate legal conclu-
sion and resulting [decision to deny] . . . the
motion to dismiss will be de novo.″ (Internal
quotation marks omitted.) Columbia Air Ser-
vices, Inc. v. Dept. of Transportation, 293 Conn.
342, 346-47, 977 A.2d 636 (2009).

At oral argument on March 25, 2010, the trial
court sua sponte raised issues regarding the clar-
ity of the referee’s decision. On April 1,
2010, the court issued an order permitting
[***17] the parties to file briefs before it con-

sidered a remand for clarification. On May 4,
2010, the court issued an order remanding the
matter to the referee ″to issue a clarification″

in accordance with the March 25, 2010 tran-
script of the trial court’s proceedings. On
May 14, 2010, the defendant filed a motion re-
questing that the court issue a clarification of
its May 4, 2010 remand order. On May 17, 2010,
the court issued [*151] a clarification that
specified three points for the referee to clarify.
On June 23, 2010, the referee filed a re-
sponse to the court’s remand order in which it
addressed the three points. The defendant
filed a motion to dismiss the action for lack of
subject matter jurisdiction. In its memoran-

7 This court granted the application of the Transgender Rights Project of Gay & Lesbian Advocates & Defenders to file an am-
icus curiae brief.
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dum in support of its motion to dismiss, the de-
fendant argued that the court’s May 4, 2010 re-
mand order was a final judgment pursuant to
§ 4-183 (j), and, thus that the court’s jurisdic-
tion over the matter had terminated. Following
argument on the matter, the court denied the
motion on the reasoning that the prior remand
was solely for clarification and not a determina-
tion of the merits.

If the May 4, 2010 order was a final judgment
for the purpose of appeal, then further substan-
tive [***18] rulings would generally be inap-
propriate, but if the remand order was simply
requesting clarification, the court later properly
considered the merits of the administrative ap-
peal. Section § 4-183, which governs appeals un-
der the Uniform Administrative Procedure
Act, contains two subsections, (h) and (j), that
specifically concern remands. The defendant
argues that the court’s May 4, 2010 remand or-
der was not issued pursuant to subsection (h).
HN8 Remands orders issued pursuant to subsec-
tion (h) are not final judgments. ″Subsection
(h) permits the trial court, prior to a hearing on
the merits and upon request of a party, to or-
der that the additional evidence be taken be-
fore the agency, which in turn allows the agency
to modify its findings or decision.″ (Internal
quotation marks omitted.) Hogan v. Dept. of
Children & Families, 290 Conn. 545, 558, 964
A.2d 1213 (2009). We agree that the remand
order was not issued under subsection (h).

The defendant argues that, because the remand
order was not one authorized by subsection
(h), it must have been authorized by subsection
(j). HN9 A remand issued by the trial court pur-
suant to § 4-183 (j) constitutes a final [*152]
judgment for the purpose of appeal irrespec-
tive [***19] of the nature of the remand and ad-
ministrative proceedings that are expected to
follow [**926] it. See Commission on Human
Rights & Opportunities v. Board of Educa-
tion, 270 Conn. 665, 675, 855 A.2d 212 (2004).
The defendant argues, accordingly, that, be-
cause the remand order was a final judgment,
the order terminated the proceedings before the
trial court, and thus terminated its jurisdiction
over the case. We disagree and conclude that the
court’s remand order was not issued pursuant

to § 4-183 (j).

Section 4-183 (j) provides: HN10 ″The court
shall not substitute its judgment for that of the
agency as to the weight of the evidence on
questions of fact. The court shall affirm the de-
cision of the agency unless the court finds
that substantial rights of the person appealing
have been prejudiced because the administra-
tive findings, inferences, conclusions, or deci-
sions are: (1) In violation of constitutional or
statutory provisions; (2) in excess of the statu-
tory authority of the agency; (3) made upon un-
lawful procedure; (4) affected by other error
of law; (5) clearly erroneous in view of the re-
liable, probative, and substantial evidence on
the whole record; or (6) arbitrary or capricious
or characterized [***20] by abuse of discre-
tion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discre-
tion. If the court finds such prejudice, it shall
sustain the appeal and, if appropriate, may ren-
der a judgment under subsection (k) of this sec-
tion or remand the case for further proceed-
ings. For purposes of this section, a remand is
a final judgment.″

In its May 17, 2010 clarification of its May 4,
2010 remand order, the court ordered the ref-
eree to clarify three points: ″1. Was the issue of
’mixed motive’ discussed in the referee’s opin-
ion as regards [Peterson]? . . . There appears
to be a ’not’ missing . . . as regards the refer-
ee’s statement comparing Conway [v. Hartford,
Superior Court, judicial district of Hart-
ford, [*153] Docket No. CV-95-0553003 (Feb-
ruary 4, 1997) (19 Conn. L. Rptr. 109, 1997
Conn. Super. LEXIS 282)], to the present case.
Did the referee conclude that Conway was, or
was not, controlling? 3. Did the referee discuss
the February, 2003 incident, as the October,
2003 affidavit did not supplant, but only supple-
mented, the August, 2003 affidavit? . . .″ (Ci-
tations omitted.) The court also noted in a foot-
note that there was a typographical error on
page thirty-seven of the referee’s decision.

The May 4, 2010 remand order was not issued
under [***21] subsection (j). In the clarifica-
tion of its remand order, the court did not find
that the ″substantial rights of the person ap-
pealing″ had been prejudiced as a result of one
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or more of the errors enumerated in § 4-183
(j), nor does the remand functionally affect sub-
stantial rights. Parenthetically, at the March
25, 2010 hearing, the court indicated its inten-
tion to retain jurisdiction: ″I’m really think-
ing that this decision has to be clarified so that
we know what we’re dealing with. . . . [I]f
[the referee] wants to put an amended decision
in, then come back here, and we’ll take a
look at it.″

The defendant is incorrect in its position that if
a court remands a matter to an agency, that re-
mand must necessarily be governed by either
subsection (h) or subsection (j). HN11 Al-
though the plain text of § 4-183 expressly re-
fers to remands only in subsection (j) and im-
plicitly refers to remands in subsection (h),8

it does not state that the types of remands ad-
dressed in § 4-183 constitute an exhaustive list
despite the legislature’s knowledge of how to
express such an intent. See Vincent v. New Ha-
ven, 285 Conn. 778, 789, 941 A.2d 932
(2008). Reviewing courts typically [**927]
have the ability to [*154] obtain [***22] ar-
ticulations from the tribunals whose deci-
sions they review.9

In Hogan v. Dept. of Children & Families, su-
pra, 290 Conn. 558 n.7, our Supreme Court,
determining that the remand order at issue in that
case properly was rendered under § 4-183 (j),
reasoned that ″[t]he remand cannot be character-
ized as ordering an articulation, which would
fall outside the scope of § 4-183 altogether . . .
.″ (Emphasis added.) In the present case, the
May 4, 2010 remand order is not within the
scope of § 4-183, can properly be character-
ized as a request for an articulation and, there-
fore, was not a final judgment. Accordingly, we
conclude that the trial court properly denied

the defendant’s motion to dismiss. Having deter-
mined [***23] that the first remand order
was not a final judgment, we turn to the defen-
dant’s remaining claims, which concern the
merits of the second remand order in the court’s
October 27, 2010 judgment.

II

The defendant claims that the trial court erred
in reversing the decision of the referee and re-
manding the discrimination claim to the ref-
eree on the issue of pretext. We agree.

The referee analyzed Peterson’s discrimination
claim using the pretext model articulated in
McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S.
792, 93 S. Ct. 1817, 36 L. Ed. 2d 668 (1973).10

HN14 In order to set forth a prima facie
[*155] case of discrimination under the pre-

text model, a plaintiff must establish that she:
″(1) is a member of a protected class; (2) ap-
plied for and was qualified for the benefit or po-
sition; (3) suffered an adverse action by the de-
fendant; and (4) the adverse action occurred
under circumstances giving rise to an inference
of discrimination.″ Commission on Human
Rights & Opportunities v. Sullivan, 285 Conn.
208, 227, 939 A.2d 541 (2008), citing McDon-
nell Douglas Corp. v. Green, supra, 802.

HN16 ″Under [the burden shifting] analysis
[of McDonnell Douglas Corp.], the employee
must first make a prima facie case of discrimi-
nation. The employer may then rebut the
prima facie case by stating a legitimate, nondis-
criminatory justification for the employment
decision in question. The employee then must
demonstrate that the reason proffered by the em-
ployer is merely a pretext and that the deci-
sion actually was motivated by illegal discrimi-
natory bias.″ (Internal quotation marks

8 Our Supreme Court has stated that HN12 orders under subsection (h) of § 4-183 ″fairly may be characterized as remands.″
Hogan v. Dept. of Children & Families, supra, 290 Conn. 558.

9 For example, HN13 Practice Book § 60-5 provides for remands by appellate courts ″for a further articulation of the basis of
the trial court’s factual findings or decision.″ By analogy, a trial court hearing administrative appeals has the same power, which
sometimes is necessary to reach a reasoned and informed decision.

10
HN15 ″The United States Supreme Court has set forth three theories of discrimination, each of which requires a different

prima [***24] facie case and corresponding burden of proof. These theories are: (1) the [pretext] theory. . . (2) the disparate im-
pact theory . . . and (3) the [mixed motives] theory.″ (Citations omitted; internal quotation marks omitted.) Commission on Hu-
man Rights & Opportunities v. Sullivan, 285 Conn. 208, 225-26, 939 A.2d 541 (2008).
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omitted.) Vollemans v. Wallingford, 103 Conn.
App. 188, 220, 928 A.2d 586 (2007), aff’d, 289
Conn. 57, 956 A.2d 579 (2008).

The referee determined that Peterson was ″a
member of a protected class by virtue of her gen-
der (female); that she suffered an adverse em-
ployment action; and that the decision not to
pass [Peterson] on the January 2003 . . . physi-
cal agility test gives rise to an inference
[***25] of [**928] discrimination.″ The ref-

eree found, however, that Peterson had not es-
tablished a prima facie case of discrimination
because she had not proven that she was quali-
fied for the position as a result of her having
not passed the department’s physical agility test.
The referee also found, in the alternative, that
even assuming Peterson had established a prima
facie case, she could not prevail because the de-
fendant had produced a legitimate business
reason for the adverse employment decision,
and Peterson had failed to prove that reason to
be a pretext for discrimination.

[*156] With respect to the September, 2003 se-
lection process, the referee found that Peter-
son had established a prima facie case because,
having passed the preliminary tests, she was
qualified for the position. The referee deter-
mined, however, that Peterson had not proven by
a preponderance of the evidence that the rea-
son proffered by the defendant for why she was
not selected was a pretext for discrimination ac-
tually resulting from discriminatory aminus
on the part of Brooks.

The court determined that the referee’s find-
ings regarding the business justification and pre-
text were unclear and required further elabora-
tion. The court [***26] further stated that
the referee failed to consider evidence of a dis-
criminatory environment and that such evi-
dence properly should be considered when
evaluating the issue of pretext.

The defendant argues on appeal that the court
erred in reversing the decision and remanding
the case to the referee on the basis that the ref-
eree’s discussion of pretext was inadequate and
that the referee failed to address additional evi-
dence of discrimination. The defendant main-

tains that, because there was substantial evi-
dence to support the referee’s decision on the
issue of pretext, it was error for the court not to
sustain the decision. In its brief, the commis-
sion argues that the court’s decision to remand
the case on the issue of pretext was proper be-
cause the referee committed legal error by fail-
ing to consider adequately all probative evi-
dence on the issue of pretext. We agree with the
defendant.

HN17 ″Judicial review of [an administrative
agency’s] action is governed by the [Uniform
Administrative Procedure Act, General Statutes
§ 4-166 et seq.] . . . and the scope of that re-
view is very restricted. . . . The court’s ulti-
mate duty is only to decide whether, in light
of the evidence, the [agency] has [***27] acted
unreasonably, [*157] arbitrarily, illegally, or
in abuse of its discretion. . . . In order for a re-
viewing court to reverse or modify an agen-
cy’s decision . . . § 4-183 (g) (1) [now subsec-
tion (j)] requires the court to find that
substantial rights of the appellant have been
prejudiced.″ (Citation omitted; internal quota-
tion marks omitted.) Sgritta v. Commissioner of
Public Health, 133 Conn. App. 710, 715, 37
A.3d 774, cert. denied, 305 Conn. 906, 44 A.3d
182 (2012).

The trial court concluded that the referee did
not consider all the evidence before him, in par-
ticular, evidence of a discriminatory environ-
ment, when making his decision. There is, how-
ever, nothing in the record to justify this
conclusion. HN18 We presume that the referee
considered all the evidence before him in ar-
riving at his decision. See Bancroft v. Commis-
sioner of Motor Vehicles, 48 Conn. App. 391,
404, 710 A.2d 807, cert. denied, 245 Conn. 917,
717 A.2d 234 (1998).

In support of its conclusion that the referee
failed to consider evidence of a discriminatory
environment—more specifically, several in-
stances of uncivil and demeaning behavior—
when making his determination on pretext, the
court highlighted a footnote in the
[***28] referee’s decision, which stated:

″While [Peterson] testified to these unpleasant
instances [**929] the pending complaint does
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not include these. It is important to note that [Pe-
terson] has not made a claim of a hostile
work environment which could have made
these experiences relevant.″ This footnote,
which was made in the context of the referee’s
statement of the parties’ positions, simply
states that a hostile work environment claim
per se was not before the referee. It does not nec-
essarily mean that the referee considered evi-
dence of her environment to be irrelevant for the
purpose of context or background when analyz-
ing Peterson’s claim of discrimination. The
referee included in his findings of fact [*158]
″unpleasant instances″ of discriminatory treat-
ment.11 These facts were found without any in-
dication that the referee deemed them irrel-
evant.

The referee also made findings regarding
Brooks’ use of the ″single norm″ Cooper Stan-
dards in evaluating the January test. The ref-
eree found that ″Brooks had no preference as to
what [***29] standard was utilized for the
300 meter event other than to use what the [acad-
emy] used so that the [department’s] physical
assessment ’mirrored’ exactly what the [acad-
emy] did.″ The fact that the referee included
findings regarding the discriminatory environ-
ment and also made findings supporting his con-
clusion that Peterson failed to prove that the le-
gitimate business reason presented by the
defendant was a pretext indicates that the ref-
eree did consider the work environment.

Applying our highly deferential standard of re-
view, we determine that the referee’s conclu-
sions regarding pretext were supported by sub-
stantial evidence. With respect to the January-
February, 2003 selection process, the referee
found that Peterson failed to meet her burden
of proving a prima facie case of discrimination
under the McDonnell Douglas Corp. test be-
cause she failed to show that she was qualified

for the position of patrol canine handler.12 The
referee also found that even if Peterson had es-
tablished a prima facie case, the defendant met
the burden of producing a legitimate business
reason, and Peterson had failed to prove that that
reason was a pretext for discrimination.

The referee’s factual findings support a conclu-
sion that Peterson did not set forth a prima fa-
cie case of [*159] discrimination as to the Janu-
ary, 2003 test, which she failed, and that
Brooks’ use of the single norm Cooper Stan-
dard to score the 300 meter run was not a pre-
text for discrimination.13 The referee found
that the process of selecting canine handlers in-
cluded a physical agility test conducted by
the department, and that Peterson did not pass
the department’s physical agility test because
she failed the 300 meter run under the single
fitness norm. The referee rejected Peterson’s ar-
gument that Brooks, motivated by discrimina-
tory animus toward Peterson on the basis of her
sex, scaled the 300 meter run using a single fit-
ness norm to ensure that she failed. He also re-
jected Peterson’s argument that there was no evi-
dence to suggest that the academy required
any particular score on the 300 meter run in or-
der to submit candidates to its canine training
program. The referee found that the most cru-
cial qualification for selection [**930] to at-
tend the academy was passing the department’s
physical [***31] agility test and that Peter-
son did not pass. The physical agility test con-
ducted by the academy included a 300 meter
run, which was scored using the Cooper Stan-
dards. In determining the passing score for each
event in the January, 2003 physical agility
test, which involved the 300 meter run, Brooks
used the Cooper Standards that had been sup-
plied to him by the academy. For the 300 me-
ter run, the Cooper Standard used by Brooks
did not differentiate between males and fe-
males or for the age of the candidate but, rather,

11 Although the referee found that, over a period of years, several specific insulting and demeaning events had occurred, we
see no useful purpose in reciting the details here.

12 Although not explicitly stated [***30] by the referee, this conclusion clearly applies to the January, 2003 test, which Peter-
son did not pass.

13 Brooks used this standard in the January, 2003 test, which Peterson did not pass, and the September, 2003 test, which Peter-
son passed.
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provided a single set of scores. Following the
January, 2003 physical agility test, Brooks con-
tacted Sergeant Kevin Rodino, the command-
ing officer of the academy, and confirmed that a
single norm standard was the proper standard
utilized for the 300 meter run. Upon receiving
confirmation from Rodino, Brooks deter-
mined that Peterson had failed the 300 meter
run event.

[*160] Brooks first became aware of a Coo-
per Standard for the 300 meter run that was
scored by age and gender at the hearing on Pe-
terson’s grievance, which, of course, occurred
after [***32] the January—February, 2003 se-
lection process. After having been made aware
of this standard, Brooks did not reassess his
use of a single norm standard in scoring the
January 26, 2003 test. He had no preference as
to what standard would be used, but wanted
the department’s test to employ the same stan-
dards as the academy. Because he believed
that the academy used a single norm standard
in January, 2003, Brooks used the same stan-
dard.

The referee’s findings also support his conclu-
sion that Peterson did not prove that the rea-
sons provided for her not having been selected
in September, 2003, were pretextual. As to
Brooks’ decision to assign the designated spot
in the September, 2003 training class to Law-
lor, despite his having ranked fourth, the ref-
eree determined that Brooks’ decision in this re-
gard was a result of a previous commitment
to Lawlor. The referee stated that ″[i]n address-
ing the issues raised by [Peterson] I could nei-
ther find justification, nor was any offered
and substantiated, for concluding that using the
results of the events to rank the candidates
was improper.″ The referee determined that
Brooks’ ranking of the candidates to determine
which candidate would be sent to [***33] ca-
nine training as Lawlor’s alternate to be a ″clear,
understandable and objective standard.″ The
referee found that the academy used the Coo-
per Standards scores as a ″ranking tool.″ The ref-
eree did not credit Peterson’s argument that

the ranking system used by Brooks was a pre-
text for discrimination but found that argu-
ment to be ″totally unsupported″ by the evi-
dence and ″mere conjecture.″

The referee’s findings and conclusions indicate
that, after considering Peterson’s arguments,
he rejected them and found that she had not met
her burden of [*161] proof. The referee
found the following. In determining which can-
didates to send to the academy, Brooks
ranked the candidates first through fifth place
for each of the events and, after eliminating each
candidate’s lowest score, averaged the event
scores. Peterson placed fifth and, accordingly,
was not selected. Lawlor, the officer who placed
fourth, was selected because he had to with-
draw from an earlier canine training class. The
officer who placed first was also selected.

The referee determined that the ranking of can-
didates was objective and not a pretext for dis-
crimination. The referee found that Brooks be-
gan using the physical agility test [***34] as
part of his selection process after he sent three
officers to canine training and they failed the
physical agility test administered by the acad-
emy. He wanted to avoid the embarrassment
of officers’ [**931] inability to pass the acad-
emy’s physical agility test, and he wanted to
avoid losing slots assigned to the department in
the academy’s sixteen week training class for
canine handlers. On the record before us, we
conclude that the referee’s decision in this re-
gard was based on substantial evidence.

III

The defendant next claims that the court erred
in reversing the decision of the referee and re-
manding the case to the referee for the pur-
pose of reconsidering the issue of physical dis-
ability. We agree.

Peterson argued before the referee that she was
discriminated against as a result of a physical
disability (transsexual) and a mental disability
(gender dysphoria).14 The referee found that
Peterson had been diagnosed with gender iden-

14 The referee construed Peterson’s complaint as claiming both a mental disability and a physical disability.
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tity disorder, which is defined [*162] in the Di-
agnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Dis-
orders of the American Psychiatric
Association (4th Ed. 1994) (DSM-IV). The ref-
eree concluded that Peterson was part of a pro-
tected class because of her mental disability.15

With [***35] respect to Peterson’s claim of
physical disability, the referee found that Peter-
son had not produced sufficient evidence to sat-
isfy the definition of ″physical disability″ in
General Statutes § 46a-51 (15).16

The court determined that Conway v. Hartford,
supra, 19 Conn. L. Rptr. 109, a case on
which the referee had relied in the context of
his discussion on physical disability, was not ap-
plicable [***36] and remanded the case for
the referee to consider the issue of physical dis-
ability without the aid of Conway.

Peterson alleged discrimination under § 46a-60
(a) (1), which provides in relevant part:
HN21 ″It shall be a discriminatory practice in
violation of this section . . . [f]or an employer, by
the employer or the employer’s agent . . . to re-
fuse to hire or employ or to bar or to dis-
charge from employment any individual or to
discriminate against such individual in compen-
sation or in terms, conditions or privileges of
employment because of the individual’s race,
color, religious creed, age, sex, marital sta-
tus, national origin, ancestry, present or past his-
tory of mental disability, mental retardation,
learning disability or physical disability, includ-
ing, but not limited to, blindness . . . .″

[*163] The court improperly remanded the
case to the referee regarding physical disability
because such a finding was not necessary in
the context of this case. Even if the referee were
to have found that Peterson suffered from a
physical disability neither the analysis nor the

outcome of the case would change. When ana-
lyzing Peterson’s claim of discrimination un-
der the McDonnell Douglas Corp. test, the
[***37] referee found that Peterson belonged to

a protected class by virtue of a mental disabil-
ity. A finding regarding physical disability
would add nothing to the legal analysis and
could not, in itself, change the result. No greater
benefit would have arisen from being a mem-
ber of a protected class for more than [**932]
one reason. Accordingly, the court erred in re-
versing the referee’s decision and remanding the
case on this ground.

IV

The defendant next claims that the court erred
in reversing the decision of the referee and re-
manding the gender stereotyping claim to the
referee. We agree.

HN22 ″[I]n enacting Title VII [of the Civil
Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e et seq.
(Title VII)], Congress intended to strike at
the entire spectrum of disparate treatment of
men and women resulting from sex stereo-
types. Price Waterhouse v. Hopkins, 490 U.S.
228, 251, 109 S. Ct. 1775, 104 L. Ed. 2d
268 (1989). . . . As a result, [s]ex stereotyping
[by an employer] based on a person’s gender
non-conforming behavior is impermissible dis-
crimination. . . . That is, individual employ-
ees who face adverse employment actions as a
result of their employer’s animus toward
their exhibition of behavior considered to be ste-
reotypically [***38] inappropriate for their
gender may have a claim under Title VII.″ (Ci-
tation omitted; internal quotation marks omit-
ted.) Dawson v. Bumble & Bumble, 398 F.3d
211, 218 (2d Cir. 2005).

[*164] The referee determined that the McDon-
nell Douglas Corp. model was appropriate.
The referee noted that, although gender stereo-

15 General Statutes § 46a-51 (20) provides: HN19 ″’Mental disability’ refers to an individual who has a record of, or is re-
garded as having one or more mental disorders, as defined in the most recent edition of the American Psychiatric Association’s ’Di-
agnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders.’″

16 General Statues § 46a-51 (15) provides: HN20 ″’Physically disabled’ refers to any individual who has any chronic physical
handicap, infirmity or impairment, whether congenital or resulting from bodily injury, organic processes or changes or from ill-
ness, including, but not limited to, epilepsy, deafness or hearing impairment or reliance on a wheelchair or other remedial appli-
ance or device . . . .″
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typing was a recognized claim, it was not clear
exactly what Peterson was alleging with re-
spect to her gender stereotyping claim. The ref-
eree did not find credible statements of Offi-
cer Darren Besse that, during the January, 2003
physical agility test, he had overheard Brooks
refer to Peterson as a ″he/she/it,″ say that he be-
lieved that Peterson should be graded as a
male for the physical agility test or state that
he would never send Peterson to the academy as
she would be an embarrassment. The referee
determined that once the ″’Besse comments’″
were rejected, the record contained no evi-
dence to establish gender stereotyping by
Brooks.

The court included a footnote in its discussion
of the three issues that it remanded to the ref-
eree that ″[t]he [commission] and [Peterson]
may also seek clarification on remand on
their gender stereotyping claim. . . . [T]he ref-
eree was unclear as to [***39] the nature of
this claim. To the court, it appears that the [com-
mission] and [Peterson] contend that [she] as
a postoperative transsexual was entitled to be
free from discrimination due to her past gen-
der.″

The defendant argues that, although the referee
was somewhat puzzled as to what specifi-
cally Peterson was claiming in her gender ste-
reotyping claim, he nevertheless considered the
claim on the merits and found that there were
no facts supporting the claim. Because the ref-
eree considered the claim and set forth his rea-
soning, the defendant argues that there was no
need for the court to remand the claim of gen-
der stereotyping to the referee.

The court addressed the issue of gender stereo-
typing in a brief footnote. The court did not ex-
plicitly reverse and remand on the issue of gen-
der stereotyping, but [*165] merely stated
that the commission and Peterson may seek
clarification on remand if they wanted to do so.
The court’s footnote regarding clarification of

the gender stereotyping claim merely high-
lighted one aspect of the court’s remand for fur-
ther analysis regarding the discrimination
claim. Because we have determined that the re-
mand on the discrimination claim was im-
proper, we have no [***40] further need to dis-
cuss the scope of the remand.17

[**933] V

The defendant last claims that the court erred
in reversing the decision of the referee and re-
manding the retaliation claim to the referee.
We agree.

On August 6, 2003, Peterson filed her initial
complaint with the commission alleging that on
or about February 11, 2003, she was denied
the opportunity to be trained as a patrol canine
handler because of her sex and physical dis-
ability in violation of §§ 46a-58 (a) and 46a-60
(a) (1). On October 15, 2003, Peterson
amended her complaint to add a claim of retali-
ation in violation of § 46a-60 (a) (4). In her af-
fidavit in support of her amended complaint,
Peterson [***41] stated: ″I believe I was de-
nied training opportunities and the position of
patrol K-9 handler because I have opposed dis-
criminatory employment practices and because I
filed a complaint with the [commission].″

In his November 4, 2008 decision, the referee
dismissed Peterson’s claim of retaliation. The
referee analyzed Peterson’s retaliation claim
as it pertained to the [*166] selection process
including the September, 2003 physical agil-
ity test and determined that, assuming argu-
endo that Peterson had established a prima fa-
cie case, Peterson had not sustained her
burden to prove that the legitimate business rea-
sons advanced by the defendant were merely
a pretext for retaliation.

On May 4, 2010, the court remanded the mat-
ter to the referee to clarify, inter alia, whether his
decision addressed the retaliation claim as it

17 The United States Supreme Court embraced a gender stereotyping theory of Title VII liability in Price Waterhouse v. Hop-
kins, supra, 490 U.S. 228. In that case, the court determined that ″[i]t takes no special training to discern sex stereotyping in a de-
scription of an aggressive female employee as requiring ’a course at charm school.’″ Id., 256. Nonetheless, we conclude that
the referee’s credibility determination is dispositive of this claim. If the referee did not find Besse’s statements credible, then there
was no viable claim.
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might relate to the January—February, 2003 se-
lection process. The referee clarified that he
did not address the retaliation claim as to the
January—February, 2003 selection process be-
cause neither the initial complaint nor the
amended complaint alleged that Brook’s deter-
mination that Peterson had failed the January
26, 2003 agility test was motivated by retalia-
tion. The referee [***42] further stated that
the only protected activity alleged in the
amended complaint was Peterson’s filing of
the initial complaint. Accordingly, the referee’s
decision addressed only that protected activ-
ity. Because the filing of the complaint fol-
lowed the announcement of the results of the
January-February 2003 selection process, the
department’s failure to select her in February
could not logically have been motivated by the
filing of that complaint.

In its memorandum of decision, the court con-
cluded that the referee erred in determining
that the only protected activity Peterson al-
leged in the retaliation claim of the amended
complaint was the filing of the August, 2003
commission complaint. The court determined
that the amended complaint, when read liber-
ally, included claims that a retaliatory motive un-
derlay her failure to be chosen in both the Janu-
ary—February, 2003 and the September,
2003 selection processes.18 The court con-
cluded [**934] that Peterson’s claims of retali-
ation in the January—February, 2003 selec-
tion process, which claims [*167] were raised
in October, 2003, relate back to the August,
2003 complaint and, thus, were not time barred
by the 180 day limitation period of General
Statutes § 46a-82 (f).

The defendant claims that the court erred in re-
versing the decision of the referee and remand-
ing the retaliation claim because the October 15,
2003 amended complaint did not relate back
to the August 6, 2003 complaint. Accordingly,

the defendant contends that, under the appli-
cable 180 day statute of limitations, allegations
of retaliatory acts that occurred before April
18, 2003, are time barred and, [***44] there-
fore, any act of retaliation occurring during the
January—February, 2003 selection process
may not provide the basis for a viable cause of
action under this analysis.

HN23 According to § 46a-82 (f), a complaint
to the commission alleging employment dis-
crimination ″must be filed within one hun-
dred and eighty days after the alleged act of dis-
crimination . . . .″ General Statutes § 46a-82
(f). The 180 day time requirement is not juris-
dictional but rather is subject to waiver and
equitable tolling. Williams v. Commission on Hu-
man Rights & Opportunities, 257 Conn. 258,
266-70, 777 A.2d 645 (2001).

Section 46a-54-38a (b) of the Regulations of
Connecticut State Agencies is similar to our
common law and provides: HN24 ″A com-
plaint may be amended to restate its contents
on a commission complaint form, to cure tech-
nical defects and omissions or to clarify and
amplify [*168] allegations made therein. Such
amendments and amendments alleging addi-
tional acts that constitute discriminatory prac-
tices which are reasonably like or related to or
growing out of the allegations of the original
complaint, including those facts discovered dur-
ing the investigation of the original com-
plaint, and including additional protected
[***45] class status or naming additional re-

spondents who have had notice of the com-
plaint, related back to the date the complaint
was first received.″

″In reviewing whether the court properly con-
cluded that the relation back doctrine applied to
the amended commission complaint, we look
to our well established common-law rules gov-
erning that doctrine established by our

18 Peterson’s [***43] posthearing brief reveals the following as a claimed basis for her retaliation claim regarding the Febru-
ary, 2003 selection process, which she alleged she made in her amended complaint. Peterson responded to the May, 2002 announce-
ment for patrol canine handlers but was not among those selected by Brooks to take the December, 2002 academy physical agil-
ity test. Peterson complained to her union president that she had been discriminated against in the December, 2002 selection
process. Wood spoke with Brooks and the chief of police. During the January, 2003 department physical agility test, Brooks exhib-
ited hostility and anger toward Peterson. Under this reasoning, the decision not to select her in February, 2003, was motivated
by Brooks’ desire to retaliate for her complaint to the union.
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courts.″ Wright v. Teamsters Local 559, 123
Conn. App. 1, 6, 1 A.3d 207 (2010). HN25 ″[A]
party properly may amplify or expand what
has already been alleged in support of a cause
of action, provided the identity of the cause of
action remains substantially the same. . . . If
a new cause of action is alleged in an amended
complaint, however, it will [speak] as of the
date when it was filed. . . . A cause of action is
that single group of facts which is claimed to
have brought about an unlawful injury to the
plaintiff and which entitles the plaintiff to re-
lief. . . . A right of action at law arises from the
existence of a primary right in the plaintiff,
and an invasion of that right by some delict on
the part of the defendant. The facts which es-
tablish the existence of that right and that de-
lict constitute the cause of action. . . .
[***46] It is proper to amplify or expand

what has already been alleged in support of a
cause of action, provided the identity of the
cause of action remains substantially the
same, but whe[n] an entirely new and different
factual situation is presented, a new and dif-
ferent cause of action is stated.″ (Citations omit-
ted; internal quotation marks omitted.) Wag-
ner v. Clark Equipment Co., 259 Conn. 114, 129
-30, 788 A.2d 83 [*169] (2002). HN26 ″If
the alternate theory of liability may be sup-
ported by the original factual allegations, then
the mere fact that the amendment adds a new
theory of liability is not a bar to the applica-
tion of the relation back doctrine. . . . If, how-
ever, the new theory of liability is not sup-
ported by the original factual allegations of the
earlier, timely [**935] complaint, and
would require the presentation of new and dif-
ferent evidence, the amendment does not re-
late back.″ (Citation omitted.) Sherman v. Ronco,
294 Conn. 548, 563, 985 A.2d 1042 (2010).

HN27 Our review of the applicability of the re-
lation back doctrine is plenary. See id., 554
n.10. The interpretation of pleadings also pres-
ents a question of law over which our review

is plenary. Landry v. Spitz, 102 Conn. App. 34,
41, 925 A.2d 334 (2007).

In [***47] determining whether the relation
back doctrine applies, we begin with a closer
look at Peterson’s initial and amended com-
plaints. Peterson’s initial complaint, in Au-
gust, 2003, concerned the January—February,
2003 selection process and included allegations
of events occurring prior to that process that
show a possibility of discrimination in that pro-
cess. In her affidavit in support of her initial
complaint, Peterson stated that she repeatedly
had applied for and repeatedly been denied the
position of patrol canine handler, most re-
cently on February 11, 2003.19 Peterson’s
amended complaint filed in October, 2003, in
contrast, alleged facts occurring after the filing
of her amended complaint. In her affidavit in
support of her amended complaint, she stated
that after she had filed the complaint with
the commission in August, 2003, she passed
the physical agility test administered by the de-
fendant but was nonetheless denied the oppor-
tunity to go to the requisite training to become a
patrol canine handler.

[*170] The language in her amended com-
plaint specifically at issue before the referee and
the trial court is as follows. ″After filing the
complaint of discrimination, I applied for a po-
sition of patrol K-9 handler. In August, 2003,
I passed the physical agility test administered by
the [department]. I was denied the opportu-
nity to go to the requisite training to become a
patrol K-9 handler. I believe I was denied
training opportunities and the position of patrol
K-9 handler because I have opposed discrimi-
natory employment practices and because I filed
a complaint with the [commission].″ She
clearly stated two bases for her claim of retalia-
tion: her opposition to discriminatory employ-
ment practices and the filing of her August, 2003
complaint with the commission. The only act
of retaliation alleged was the failure to select her

19 The [***48] initial complaint included a form, where Peterson checked off the applicable statutes and forms of discrimina-
tion, and an affidavit. The amended complaint consisted of an affidavit.
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in the September, 2003 selection process.20

The phrase ″because I have opposed discrimina-
tory employment practices″ stated another pos-
sibly protected activity, in addition to the fil-
ing [***49] of the August, 2003 complaint, on
which she based her claim that her rejection
in the September, 2003 selection process was the
result of a retaliatory motive.

The alleged act of retaliation in the amended
complaint is, however, her failure to be se-
lected in the September, 2003 selection pro-
cess, and, therefore, the operative facts ought
not be deemed to arise from or to amplify the al-
legations in the initial complaint, which con-
cerned, as an act of retaliation, the January—
February, 2003 selection process. Because the
allegations in the amended complaint present
a different set of operative facts from those pre-
sented in the initial complaint, the relation

back doctrine is inapplicable.21 [**936]
[*171] The referee properly declined, there-

fore, to address the issue of retaliation in the
January—February, 2003 selection process be-
cause the initial complaint did not raise it, and
the amended complaint was filed too late to
raise it in a timely manner. Accordingly, the
court erred in reversing the decision of the ref-
eree [***50] and remanding the issue of re-
taliation as to the January—February, 2003 se-
lection process to the referee.22

The judgment is reversed and the case is re-
manded to the trial court with direction to dis-
miss the plaintiffs’ appeal and to render judg-
ment enforcing the decision of the referee.

In this opinion the other judges concurred.

20 Her affidavit refers to an ″August 2003″ physical agility test. Both parties, the referee and the court apparently understood
this to refer to the September 7, 2003 physical agility test.

21 The facts of Wright v. Teamsters Local 559, supra, 123 Conn. App. 1, provide a useful foil. There, a union member claimed
that he lost his position as a union steward because of racial discrimination. Id., 3. He subsequently amended his complaint to in-
clude age discrimination as another reason he lost his position. Id. Because the same set of facts underlay each complaint in
that case, but the second complaint alleged discrimination that arose from an additional alleged animus, the second complaint re-
lated back to the first. Id., 6-7. In the present case, an entirely different act of retaliation is alleged in the second complaint,
and, therefore, a different set of operative facts exists.

22 We note that the referee found, in any event, that the results of both selection processes were motivated only by legitimate con-
siderations.
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